PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Petitioner, Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury 

Compensation Association, refers to itself as "NICA.Il 

NICA refers to Petitioners below/Respondents here, Eric Ryan 

Birnie, a minor, by and through his parents and natural guardians, 

Judith Birnie and Fred Birnie, as "the Birnies." 

NICA refers to Eric Ryan Birnie, a minor, as " E r i c  Birnie." 

NICA refers to the Division of Administrative Hearings as 

"DOAH. I' 

NICA refers to Sections 766.301-766.316, Florida Statutes 

(1995), collectively as the "NICA Act." 

NICA designates references to pages of the Appendix filed 

simultaneously herewith by the prefix ItA, as follows: "Appendix A- 

ll 
I 

The Index to the DOAH record lists the transcript of the final 

hearing, and the transcripts of the depositions of Leon Charash, 

M.D. and of Joseph White as "ATTACHMENT 1." NICA designates 

references to the transcript of the final hearing by the page of 

the transcript. NICA designates references to deposition 

transcripts by the name of the deponent and the page of the 

deposition transcript. 

V 



In 1988, the Florida Legislature determined there was a 

Ilfinancial crisis in the medical liability insurance industryt1 to 

the point where "the cost of medical liability insurance is 

excessive and injurious to the people of Florida and must be 

reducedtt and that "the magnitude of this compelling social problem 

demands immediate and dramatic legislative action." Preamble, 

Chapter 88-1, Laws of Florida. An important part of the 

legislation enacted to alleviate the medical malpractice insurance 

crisis was the creation of the Florida Birth-Related Neurological 

Injury Compensation Plan.' Sections 766.301-766.316, Florida 

Statutes, hereinafter referred to as the ttNICA Act.Il2 

The legislature based its findings in large part on the report 

and recommendations of the Academic Task Force for Review of the 

Insurance and Tort Systems. Preamble, Chapter 88-1, Laws of 

Florida.3 In Section C of the Academic Task Force's Medical 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

A. THE FLORIDA BIRTH-RELATED NEUROLOGICAL INJURY 
COMPENSATION PLAN 

In COY vs. Florida Birth-Related Neurolosical Injurv 
Compensation Plan, 595 So.2d 943, 946 (Fla. 1992), cert. den. - 
U.S. -' 113 S.Ct. 194, 121 L.Ed. 2d 137, this Court observed that 
the NICA Plan "is not a cure all, but will be a major contribution 
to the curett of the medical malpractice insurance crisis. 

1 

All references are to Florida Statutes (1995) unless 2 

otherwise indicated. 

See also, University of Miami vs. Echarte, 618 So.2d 189 
(Fla. 1993), cert. den. U . S .  , 114 S.Ct. 304, 126 L.Ed. 2d 
252, in which this Courtquoted extensively from the Task Force's 
report in upholding the constitutionality of another component of 

3 
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Malpractice Recommendations dated November 6, 1987, it described a 

tono-fault plan for birth-related neurological injuriestt patterned 

closely after a similar plan adopted earlier that year in Virginia. 

Appendix A-51--A-67. The Task Force did not recommend a no-fault 

compensation alternative to the tort system f o r  all medical 

injuries, but only for birth-related neurological injuries. The 

Task Force stated that this ttconclusion is compelled by findings 

that a comprehensive no-fault system for all medical injuries would 

be prohibitively expensive, many times more expensive than the 

existing medical malpractice systems. Task Force Report, Page 31, 

Appendix A - 5 3 .  The Task Force recommended that a no-fault plan be 

created solely for a narrowly defined class of birth injuries Itfor 

two reasons: first, because claims costs in this area have been 

particularly high, and second, because a no-fault system in this 

limited area is feasible and would involve manageable costs." 

Ibid. 

0 
The NICA Act as ultimately passed by the legislature was 

similar although not identical to the proposal of the Academic Task 

Force. The NICA Act commences with the following statement of 

legislative findings and intent which draws heavily from the 

Academic Task Force report: 

766.301 Legislative findings and intent. - 
(1) The Legislature makes the following 
findings : 

the malpractice reform legislation and noted that the legislature 
had followed the Task Force's recommendations and findings. 

2 



(a) Physicians practicing obstetrics are high- 
risk medical specialists for whom malpractice 
insurance premiums are very costly, and recent 
increases in such premiums have been greater 
for such physicians than for other physicians. 

(b) Any birth other than a normal birth 
frequently leads to a claim against the 
attending physician; consequently, such 
physicians are among the physicians most 
severely affected by current medical 
malpractice problems. 

(c) Because obstetric services are essential, 
it is incumbent upon the Legislature to 
provide a plan designed to result in the 
stabilization and reduction of malpractice 
insurance premiums for providers of such 
services in Florida. 

(d) The costs of birth-related neurological 
injury claims are particularly high and 
warrant the establishment of a limited system 
of compensation irrespective of fault. 

(2) It is the intent of the Legislature to 
provide Compensation, on a no-fault basis, f o r  
a limited class of catastrophic injuries that 
result in unusually high costs for custodial 
care and rehabilitation. This plan shall 
apply only to birth related neurological 
in juries. 

Under the common law, a patient injured by medical negligence 

has a cause of action for monetary damages against the responsible 

health care providers. In derogation of that cammon law remedy, 

the NICA Plan was substituted as the exclusive remedy4 for an 

infant w h o  sustained a statutorily-defined ##birth-related 

The one exception to the exclusiveness of the NICA remedy 
is that IIa civil action shall not be foreclosed where there is 
clear and convincing evidence of bad faith or malicious purpose or 
willful and wanton disregard of human rights, safety, or property## 
on the part of a health care provider w h o  participated in the 
delivery. Section 766.303(2), Florida Statutes. 

4 
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neurological injury" who was delivered by an obstetric physician 

who participated in NICA. Sections 766.303 and 766.309, Florida 

Statutes. 

The statutory definition of a "birth-related neurological 

injury" is set  forth in Section 766.302(2), Florida Statutes.' For 

purposes of the present appeal, the salient provision is that an 

infant is subject to the exclusive remedy of NICA if the injury 

renders him Itpermanently and substantially mentally and physically 

impaired. 

The compensation available if an infant is subject to the 

exclusive remedy of NICA is set forth in Section 766.31, Florida 

Statutes. The elements of compensation include reasonable medical 

care and facilities6, but may not include expenses paid or payable 

under private health insurance or state or federal government 

programs. Section 766.31(1)(a), Florida Statutes. In addition, a 

payment of up to $100,000 to the parents or legal guardians of the 

infant may be made, as well as reasonable expenses incurred in 

connection with the filing of a claim f o r  NICA benefits including 

!'Birth-related neurological injury" means injury to the 
brain or spinal cord of a live infant weighing at least 2,500 grams 
at birth caused by oxygen deprivation or mechanical injury 
occurring in the course of labor, delivery, or resuscitation in the 
immediate post delivery period in a hospital, which renders the 
infant permanently and substantially mentally and physically 
impaired. This definition shall apply to live births only and 
shall not include disability or death caused by genetic or 
congenital abnormality. 

Coverage is provided for '![a]ctual expenses f o r  medically 
necessary and reasonable medical and hospital, habilitative and 
training, residential, and custodial care and service, for 
medically necessary drugs, special equipment, and facilities, and 
for related travel.Il Section 766.31(1)(a), Florida Statutes. 

5 

6 

4 



reasonable attorneys fees. Section 766.31(1) (b) (c), Florida 

Statutes. 

The NICA Plan from which compensation is to be paid was 

initially funded by an appropriation of $20 million from the 

Insurance Commissioner's Regulatory Trust Fund. Annual revenues to 

the Plan are generated by yearly assessments of $5,000 on 

obstetricians who decide to participate in NICA, $250 on most other 

Florida-licensed physicians, and $50 per live birth on private 

hospitals. The NICA Act provides that the Department of Insurance 

will undertake periodic actuarial evaluations of the assets and 

liabilities of the NICA Plan. If the funding described above 

proves insufficient to maintain the NICA Plan on a actuarially 

sound basis, there has been reserved for potential transfer to NICA 

an additional amount of up to $20 million from the Insurance 

Commissioner's Regulatory Trust Fund. If necessary, further 

funding for NICA is available from assessments on casualty 

insurers, which can be recovered by the insurance carriers through 

a surcharge on future policies and/or a rate increase. If the 

Department of Insurance finds that the NICA Plan still cannot be 

maintained on an actuarially sound basis, it can increase the 

assessments collected from Florida obstetricians, other physicians, 

and private hospitals. See, Section 766.314, Florida Statutes. 

Another provision of the NICA Act requires NICA to compute 

estimates of the present value of the total cost of claims. In the 

event that the total of all of NICA's current estimates equals 80% 

of the funds on hand and to become available within the next twelve 

5 



months, NICA shall suspend accepting any new claims without express 

authority from the legislature (except that claims for injuries 

occurring 18 months or more before the suspension may still be 

accepted). If any person is precluded from asserting a claim for 

NICA benefits because of a suspension, the NICA Plan shall not 

constitute his exclusive remedy and the claimant is free to assert 

a traditional common law tort claim for medical malpractice. See, 

Section 766.314(9), Florida Statutes. 

B. THE FACTS CONCERNING ERIC BIRNIE 

Eric Birnie was born at Halifax Hospital in Daytona Beach, 

Florida on March 12, 1989. Finding of Fact No. 1, Appendix A-18. 

The parties stipulated that the physician providing obstetrical 

services at E r i c  Birnie's birth was a participating physician in 

the NICA Plan. Finding of Fact No. 2, Appendix A-18. During the 

course of Mrs. Judith Birnie's labor, there was an abrupt change in 

the fetal heart monitor without a return to the baseline indicating 

a strong likelihood of fetal stress. The obstetrician determined 

it was necessary to try to deliver the baby immediately, and after 

twice attempting vacuum extraction of the fetus without success, a 

cesarian section was performed. During the operation, the 

obstetrician noted there had been an abruption (separation) of the 

placenta from the uterine wall, a condition which can lead to fetal 

hypoxia (reduction in oxygen supply). In this case, it appears 

that the abruption occurred at least 3 9  minutes before the baby was 

delivered. Findings of Fact No. 7 and 8, Appendix A-19. 

At the time of delivery, the baby was floppy and not 

6 



breathing, and his Apgar scores (on a scale of 10) were 2 at one 

minute and 4 at five minutes. Such scores are consistent with Eric 

Birnie having suffered a severe hypoxic (deprivation of oxygen) 

insult at birth. Findings of Fact No. 11 and 13, Appendix A-20. 

Based on the medical facts, the hearing officer below concluded 

that Eric Birnie sustained an injury to the brain caused by oxygen 

deprivation in the course of labor, delivery or resuscitation in 

the immediate post-delivery period (one of the elements of the 

definition of a NICA covered injury). Finding of Fact No. 43, 

Appendix A-28. 

As a result of Eric Birnie's injury, he is indisputably 

permanently and substantially physically impaired. Finding of Fact 

No. 4 4 ,  Appendix A-29. At the time of the hearing in this case, 

Eric Birnie was 44, years o ld .  He was unable to stand up, walk, or 

crawl, and his only method of independent mobility was to roll a 
over. The use of his hands and arms was very limited. Eric's 

speech was greatly impacted by his condition, and he had great 

difficulty talking and took long pauses to formulate a response to 

an inquiry. Findings of Fact No. 3 8  and 39, Appendix A-27. The 

hearing officer found that while continued therapy may help Eric 

Birnie to communicate better and to become somewhat more mobile, he 

will almost certainly never be able to walk, feed, groom, or toilet 

himself. Ibid. 

Eric Birnie attended a special program for developmentally 

delayed children at Easter Seals beginning when he was 

approximately 11 months of age. In his thirty-five month 

7 



evaluation conducted by Easter Seals, it was noted that he was 

functioning at an age equivalent of 8 months in gross motor skills. 

Eric was approximately age equivalent in receptive language skills, 

but he was functioning at 2 4  months in expressive language skills. 

Eric was demonstrating significant delay in oral motor skills. He 

had limited tongue mobility and was unable to lateralize, raise or 

lower his tongue and was only able to produce a small number of 

vowel and consonant sounds. Finding of Fact No. 35, Appendix A-26. 

When he was just short of four years old, Eric Birnie was 

evaluated by a public school psychologist employed by the School 

District of Volusia County to evaluate his placement in its 

exceptional student program. Because of his profound physical 

handicaps, the tests were specially selected and administered. The 

test results indicated that Eric Birnie was average or even above 

in his cognitive skills and pre-academic skills. As a result, the 

School District anticipates that Eric Birnie will ultimately be 

educated in a mainstream classroom with non-handicapped students of 

his own age group. The hear ing officer found that Eric will, 

however, need special accommodations within the classroom to 

address his physical handicaps and limitations. Finding of Fact 

No. 36, Appendix A-26; Deposition and report of Joseph White. 

The school psychologist, Joseph White, wrote a report which 

contained the following summary of his assessment: 

Eric Birnie was referred for a routine 
evaluation to determine his current levels of 
ability and achievement. Eric is a physically 
impaired child due to cerebral palsy. This 
examiner found Eric to be a friendly, outgoing 

8 



youngster. Although he is slow in forming his 
words due to his motor impairment, Eric's 
speech is intelligible and one is immediately 
impressed with Eric's ability to express 
himself verbally. Test results show that he 
advanced both in his cognitive development and 
in his acquisition of pre- academic skills. 
Deposition and Report of Joseph White. 

At the request of Eric Birnie's counsel, he was evaluated 

shortly after h i s  fourth birthday by Leon Charash, M.D., in 

Hicksville, New York. Dr. Charash concluded that Eric was 

functioning at a normal intellectual level or was, simply stated, 

of normal intelligence. Charash deposition, Page 60, and Exhibit 

1 to deposition. Moreover, Dr. Charash is of the opinion that the 

portions of Eric's brain responsible for intellectual function have 

not been damaged. Charash deposition, Pages 69-70.7 similarly, 

the board-certified pediatric neurologist who evaluated Eric Birnie 

at the request of NICA, Michael Duchowny, M . D . ,  concluded that Eric 

Birnie did not suffer from a substantial mental impairment. 

Transcript of final hearing, Pages 80-82.  The Birnies' counsel 

conceded at the final hearing that Eric Birnie Itappears to have an 

intellectual component that is within normal limits; conceivably, 

even above average." Transcript of final hearing, Page 17. 

C. THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW 

On or about July 19, 1991, when Eric Birnie was two years and 

four months old, his parents filed a Petition for Compensation for 

Dr. Charash deems the term llmentallt to be the functional 
equivalent of the word llintellectual.ll He testified in his video 
taped deposition that I I I  accept mental capacity and mental, and 
intellectual quotients [IQ] as being reasonably equatable, yes.l1 
Charash Deposition, at Page 62. 

7 
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Birth-Related Neurological Injury. Final Order, Page 2, Appendix 

A-15. On September 30, 1993, a final hearing was held in Daytona 0 
Beach, Florida before J. Stephen Menton, a hearing officer with the 

Division of Administrative Hearings ( D O A H ) .  Final Order, Page 3 ,  

Appendix A-16. Prior to the hearing, the parties agreed that the 

amount of compensation, if any, should be bifurcated from the issue 

of whether Eric Birnie had sustained cornpensable NICA-covered 

injury, and no evidence was presented on the issue of benefits. 

Final Order, Page 3 ,  Appendix A-16. On September 22, 1994, the 

hearing officer entered his final order. Record 83-111, Appendix 

A-14 - A42. 
In his final order, Hearing Officer Menton ruled that Eric 

Birnie had sustained a NICA-covered birth-related neurological 

injury. Paragraphs 54 and 61 of the final order contain the 

ultimate rationale of the hearing officer in reaching this a 
conclusion: 

54. The evidence in this case established that 
Eric suffered an injury to the brain caused by 
oxygen deprivation during the course of labor, 
delivery or resuscitation in the immediate 
post-delivery period. The mare difficult 
issue is whether Eric's injury falls within 
the scope of the statute. Eric is 
indisputably permanently and substantially 
physically impaired as a result of the damage 
to his brain. Respondent argues that 
Petitioners are not entitled to compensation 
under the NICA Plan because Eric tested within 
normal ranges on specially selected and 
administered intelligence tests. Based upon 
those test results and the observations of 
various witnesses who testified that Eric 
appears to have an intellectual ability in the 
normal range, Respondent contends that Eric is 
not substantially and permanently "mentally 

10 



impaired" with the scope of the statute.2 
Essentially, Respondent argues that mental 
impairment should be equated with cognitive 
functioning as measured by intelligence tests 
and any child who tests within normal ranges 
on an intelligence test is not entitled to 
receive compensation under the NICA Plan 
irrespective of the special accommodations 
necessary to administer the tests and/or the 
social and vocational limitations on the child 
as a result of his injury. This 
interpretation is rejected as unduly narrow. 

Petitioners have suggested that the NICA Plan  
should be interpreted to cover any child who 
is permanently and substantially physically 
impaired or permanently and substantially 
mentally impaired. In this regard, 
Petitioners point out that the statute 
purports to cover spinal cord damage resulting 
from mechanical injury even though the damage 
in such a case would be primarily physical. 
To the extent that Petitioners contend that 
the NICA Plan covers injuries that result in 
only physical or only mental impairment, their 
interpretation is rejected. The Statute is 
written in the conjunctive and can only be 
interpreted to require permanent and 
substantial impairment that has both physical 
and mental elements. Thus, a deformity or 
loss of a limb would not ordinarily be covered 
under the NICA Plan. 

* * *  
61. In sum, it is concluded that, as a direct 
result of his brain injury and consequent 
physical limitations, Eric will not be able to 
translate his cognitive capabilities into 
adequate learning in a normal manner. 
Moreover, as a direct consequence of his