SID J. WHITE

FILED 017

MAR 25 1996

CLERK EUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA Degree Court

CASE NO: 87,233

Lower Case No. 94-2368 (5th DCA)

FLORIDA BIRTH-RELATED NEUROLOGICAL INJURY COMPENSATION ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner

v.

Â

FLORIDA DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS, ET AL.,

Respondents.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS, JUDITH BIRNIE and FRED BIRNIE, LEGAL GUARDIANS FOR ERIC RYAN BIRNIE, AND INDIVIDUALLY.

SANDS WHITE & SANDS, P.A. By Larry Sands, Έ**έ**α. Florida Bar #070384 Post Office Box 2010 Daytona Beach, FL 32115-2010

Phone (904) 258-1622 Attorneys for Respondents, BIRNIE.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The statutes which comprise the "NICA Plan" define a compensable injury as one which renders the subject infant "permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired". In applying this definition to the situation and circumstances of Eric Birnie, at least two questions of construction immediately arise:

- Does the statute require that Eric be <u>both mentally</u> and <u>physically</u> impaired?
- Is it necessary that <u>both</u> the <u>mental</u> <u>impairment</u> <u>and</u> the <u>physical</u> <u>impairment</u> must be <u>permanent</u> <u>and</u> <u>substantial</u>?

The Hearing Officer answered both of these questions in the affirmative. More specifically, in finding the facts from the evidence, the Hearing Officer determined that Eric Birnie was "permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired". This finding is amply supported by the evidence on this issue.

Although the Court of Appeal approved the ultimate conclusion of the Hearing Officer, the Court took a critical legal step further. The Court found ambiguity between the intent and purpose of the Legislature to reduce the cost of malpractice insurance for obstetricians and the interpretation asserted by NICA that the Plan limited recovery to those infants who suffered both substantial physical impairment and substantial mental impairment. Moreover, the court also concluded that the construction of the statute urged by NICA might very well create an unreasonable classification and render the entire NICA Plan unconstitutional.

"However, if we construe the "limited class" language to further limit the number who would otherwise qualify under the NICA plan to only those who are both physically <u>and</u> mentally impaired, we would have to ignore the legislative "plan designed to result in the stabilization and reduction of malpractice insurance premiums for [obstetricians]" and the reasonableness of the classification would be in doubt."¹

Finding these concerns sufficient to require judicial construction of the statute, the Court of Appeals applied standard rules of statutory construction and concluded the meaning and the intent of the statute were satisfied by reading the statute to require permanent and substantial <u>physical</u> impairment <u>and/or</u> permanent and substantial <u>mental</u> impairment.

Although the finding of <u>fact</u> by the Hearing Officer was correct and sufficient to establish that this claim is compensable under the statute, the finding of <u>law</u> by the Court of Appeals also is correct and determinative of the claimants' rights under the

¹ Decision on Rehearing, 20 Fla. Law Weekly D2725-2726.

NICA Plan. However, both the facts and the law of this case may also be satisfied by construing the statute to require permanent and substantial impairment composed of elements of both mental impairment and physical impairment.

The terms used in this statute are words of common usage and should be interpreted according to their common and ordinary meaning. Because of the wide variation in the definitions of these terms in common usage, there is necessarily a wide variation in the reading and interpretation of the statute. Considering these possible variations and the grammatical analysis of the phrases used, it is apparent that there are three possible interpretations of the statutory phrase <u>"permanently and substantially mentally</u> and physically impaired":

- The impairment must be permanent and substantial, and it must include elements of mental impairment and physical impairment.
- 2. The impairment must be permanent and substantial, and it must include elements of substantial mental impairment <u>and</u> substantial physical impairment.
- 3. The impairment must be permanent and substantial, and it must include elements of substantial mental impairment <u>or</u> substantial physical impairment.

In briefing and arguing these issues to the Court of Appeal, the Birnies took the position that the first of these three possible interpretations best fulfilled the intent of the Legislature and the ordinary meaning and understanding of these statutory terms. The Court of Appeal, however, determined that only the third of these three possible interpretations would provide a reasonable classification acceptable to the constitution and also satisfy the intent of the Legislature. For the purposes of this brief and argument, the Birnies can accept either the conclusions of the Hearing Officer, the decision of the Court of Appeals, or the middle ground embodied in the first interpretation of the statute described above -- that is, the <u>impairment</u> must be <u>permanent and substantial</u>, and it must be composed of elements of mental impairment and elements of physical impairment.

Not only is this the interpretation intended by the Legislature, but this interpretation may preserve the constitutionality of the statute. The classifications attempted by the Legislature are so vague, unreasonable and arbitrary that the statute may be held unconstitutional when that issue is raised in a proper case. Insofar as this case is concerned, the Birnies are claiming compensation under the statute, and they do not challenge the constitutionality of the statute.

ARGUMENT

As indicated above, the real questions raised on this appeal are whether the provisions of the statutory classification are ambiguous, and, if so, what is the appropriate construction of the statute. Why then, does NICA devote so much of its brief to the funding of the Plan and the potential insolvency of the Fund? NICA claims that the extensive provisions of the statute concerning funding show that the Legislature intended to strictly limit the classification of claimants who qualified for compensation.²

In the Court of Appeal NICA was joined in this argument by the Florida Medical Association, as amicus curiae. The FMA was not invited and has not applied to participate in these proceedings before this Court. However, the governing Board of NICA is dominated by the health care industry,³ and NICA obviously speaks for its medical partners in the argument presented in the initial brief.

The preoccupation of the FMA/NICA with the funding of the NICA Plan has a long and undignified history. Initially, the FMA strongly supported the proposed NICA Plan until the legislature

² Initial brief of Petitioner, pages 5-6, 23, 28-29.

³ Section 766.315(1)(c), Florida Statutes, provides for a five member governing Board composed of one obstetric physician, one non-obstetric physician, one hospital representative (who may be a physician), one casualty insurance representative and one "citizen" representative.

attached funding provisions which required an initial payment of \$250 by non-obstetric physicians and the possibility of assessments against physicians, hospitals and insurance carriers in the future.

Since the statute became effective, organized medicine has mounted continuing legal attacks on the funding provisions of the NICA Plan.⁴ Failing in these previous attacks, the FMA has performed an impossible balancing act: attempting to limit the rights of children injured by medical negligence during labor and delivery, while at the same time limiting the obligation of physicians to contribute their fair share to the funding of their own legislative scheme.

The current effort of the FMA/NICA to accomplish their objectives is by manipulation of the statutory classification of claims and claimants. At best, the statutory classification of qualified claimants has always been suspect. In its conception and recommendation for this Plan, the Academic Task Force clearly indicated that the Plan should apply primarily to infants whose catastrophic injuries were most likely to be caused by medical

⁴ See, <u>Coy v. Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury</u> <u>Compensation Plan</u>, 595 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1992); <u>McGiboney v. Florida</u> <u>Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Plan</u>, 563 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), jurisdiction accepted 573 So.2d 3, approved 595 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1992). See also brief of Florida Medical Association, as amicus curiae, in the Court below.

negligence.⁵ The Task Force rather cynically pointed out that a true no-fault medical malpractice plan would be "prohibitively expensive".⁶ For this reason the classification of qualified claimants was carefully drawn to include only those whose injuries were most likely to be caused by physician negligence. Neither the Academic Task Force nor the Legislature made any effort to conceal the fact that the classifications for the NICA Plan were rigged to catch as many claims caused by medical negligence as possible, while excluding as many non-negligent claims as possible.⁷

The Report of the Academic Task Force and the NICA Plan clearly recognize that the greatest number of catastrophic injuries resulting from physician or hospital negligence occur during labor and delivery or resuscitation immediately following delivery. Consequently the plan was designed to include only injuries occurring during this period.

This would generally exclude the comparatively large number of infants who suffered intrauterine injury from infection, toxicity or toxemia prior to labor and delivery. It would also

⁵ Academic Task Force for Review of the Insurance and Tort Systems, Medical Malpractice Recommendations, page 31-32.

⁶ <u>Ibid.</u>, pages 31-32.

⁷ Report of the Academic Task Force, pages 30-31; Section 766.301, Florida Statutes.

exclude the equally large number of infants who suffer injury from infection or metabolic disorders following delivery.

Since premature infants or growth retarded infants might suffer catastrophic injuries during labor and delivery unrelated to medical negligence, the statute excluded them from recovery by requiring that the infant weigh at least 2500 grams at birth. For much the same reason genetic or congenital abnormalities were expressly excluded as well.

Of course, one of the greatest limitations upon recovery under the Plan was the requirement that the injury be caused only by deprivation of oxygen or mechanical trauma and the injury must affect only the brain and the spinal cord. This effectively eliminated many lesser injuries that probably would not involve physician or hospital negligence.

Finally, the Plan eliminated all lesser injuries by requiring that the infant be "permanently and substantially mentally and physically impaired." This brought about the strange anomaly that an infant with lesser injuries caused by medical negligence would very likely make a much greater recovery at common law than an infant with "catastrophic injuries" could recover under NICA.

This is particularly true when the compensation available under NICA is considered. The parents are compensated for a lifetime of care and anguish by the maximum total sum of \$100,000.

There is no recovery for intangible damages, such as the loss of the ability to enjoy life, but, theoretically, the injured infant is entitled to recover:⁸

> "(a) Actual expenses for medically necessary and reasonable medical and hospitalization, habilitative and training, residential, and custodial care and service, for medically necessary drugs, special equipment and facilities, and for related travel."

However, the catch is that the infant must first exhaust all benefits available under private insurance or public welfare.⁹ All NICA benefits are excess over any other benefits that might be available to the child, including benefits depending upon indigence.¹⁰

Obviously, there is a tremendous difference between the benefits available under the NICA Plan and the damages recoverable for these catastrophic injuries at common law. On the other hand, the reduction in malpractice insurance costs to obstetricians has been correspondingly large.

However, in addition to the financial advantages already conferred by the statute, the FMA and NICA want even more. They want an area of subjectivity in the Plan which will allow them to

- ⁹ Section 766.31(1)(a) 1, 2, and 3, Fla. Stat.
- ¹⁰ Section 766.31(1)(a), Fla. Stat.

⁸ Section 766.31(1)(a), Fla. Stat.

screen compensable cases. They can then tilt the playing field even more favorably to the health care industry.

Such subjectivity is readily available in any evaluation of the nature of "mental" impairment, and how much mental impairment is "substantial". Of course, the degree of subjective latitude available in this evaluation is increased by the fact that in the most critical cases the nature and extent of "mental" impairment must be determined before the child is two years old.

Although the limitations period for NICA claims is five years after birth, any claim that might be compensable at common law must be filed with NICA or in the appropriate Circuit Court within two years of the medical incident or the discovery of the injury.¹¹

The difficulties in determining the nature and extent of "mental" impairment in a young child are amply demonstrated in the expert testimony in this case and in the order of the Hearing Officer.¹² Of course, at the time of the hearing in this case Eric was four and one-half years old. When the child is much younger at the time this determination must be made, it becomes increasingly difficult to evaluate or to establish "substantial mental impairment".

¹¹ Sec. 766.313 and Sec. 95.11(4)(b), Fla. Stat.

¹² Order of the Hearing Officer, pages 20-21.

Since the statute places the burden of proving this element of the classification on the child and his or her parents, it can be virtually impossible to challenge an assertion or a denial of compensability by NICA.

Now that the purpose of the FMA/NICA is better understood, it may be appropriate to consider the purpose of the Legislature in adopting the NICA Plan. The Court of Appeals found that the statutory classification contained in the Plan was ambiguous because the intent and purpose of the Legislature was contrary to the "literal" interpretation of the statute urged by the FMA/NICA.¹³ The Court determined that the only intent and purpose expressed by the Legislature and embodied in the statute was to reduce the cost of malpractice insurance to obstetric As the Court of Appeal observed, this purpose physicians. certainly will not be served by further limiting the classification of qualified claimants, unless, of course, NICA intends to expand upon the discriminatory screening process they have used in this case and the other cases described in their brief.¹⁴

It was further suggested by the Court of Appeals that if the interpretation of the statute asserted by NICA was correct, then

¹³ 664 So. 2d 1016, 1019-1020 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

¹⁴ Initial brief of Petitioner, pages 25-26.

"the reasonableness of the classification would be in doubt."¹⁵ In order to fulfill the purpose of the legislature and to preserve the constitutionality of the statute, the Court found it necessary to read the critical phrase in the disjunctive, rather than the conjunctive. That is, the Court held that either substantial mental impairment and/or substantial physical impairment would satisfy the intent of the legislature and provide a reasonable classification sufficient to preserve the constitutionality of the statute.

The Court of Appeal cited considerable authority for the proposition that "the words 'or' and 'and' may be interchanged when it is required to effectuate the obvious intention of the legislature and to accomplish the purpose of the state."¹⁶ Such construction certainly is justified under the circumstances of this case.

However, the critical issues which determine the claim of Eric Birnie may be resolved in an even more simple and direct manner.

¹⁵ Decision on Rehearing, 20 Fla. Law Weekly D2725, 2726.

¹⁶ 664 So. 2d 1016, 1020-1021, quoting from <u>Pinellas County</u> <u>v. Wooley</u>, 189 So.2d 217, 219 (2nd DCA 1976); Also citing: <u>Winemiller v. Feddish</u>, 568 So.2d 483 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); <u>Rudd v.</u> <u>State ex rel Christian</u>, 310 So.2d 295 (Fla. 1975); <u>Dotty v. State</u>, 197 So.2d 315 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967); <u>Duncan v. Wiseman Baking Co.</u>, 357 SW 2d 694 (Ky. App. 1962); <u>Peacock v. Lubbock Compress Co</u>., 252 F. 2d 892 (C.A. 5th 1958); <u>Comptroller v. Fairchild Industries</u>, 303 Md. 280, 493 A. 2d 341 (1985).

The Hearing Officer did not find it necessary to construe the terms of the classification because he found from the evidence that Eric Birnie had suffered permanent and substantial mental impairment.¹⁷ As finder of the facts of this case, his determination will be sustained if it is supported by competent and substantial evidence.¹⁸ There was more than sufficient evidence to support this finding of the Hearing Officer.

The conclusion of the Hearing Officer awarding compensation may also be sustained by a construction of the statutory classification that is much more reasonable than the interpretation asserted by NICA. It is true that the Legislature intended the statute to apply to a limited class of claims involving catastrophic injuries. However, in creating the classification for such injuries, the Legislature only required that a claimant be "substantially ... impaired". In addition it was provided that a qualified claimant must be "mentally impaired" as well as "physically impaired". Nevertheless the total impairment required was only that the claimant be "substantially ... impaired".

Therefore, it logically follows that the two components of

¹⁷ Order of the Hearing Officer, pages 23-24

¹⁸ <u>Markham v. Foqq</u>, 458 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 1984); <u>Shaw v. Shaw</u>, 334 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1976).

this impairment might be something less than substantial, so long as the total impairment was substantial.

This interpretation of the statutory classification is also consistent with the intent of the Legislature expressed in another section of the statute. The NICA Plan contemplates two types of compensable injuries:

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